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Figure 1 shows a drawing of the original school building (Taylor et al 2006). 
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Introduction 
 

In this report, the contents of the specific research points for this project will be covered, so the 
story of Heath Grammar School will not be covered in its entirety. The purpose of this report is to 
shine light on some interesting questions about the Grammar school’s history and the avenues 
that were taken for the research of these questions. The research undertaken in the locating of 
the “lost” charter in particular focuses on casting a wide net in order to gain evidence which 
could lead to identifying its location. The research into the old school building itself is more 
archaeological and focuses on the interpretation of the building and landscape in order to 
recommend routes for future work.  
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Heath Grammar School lost charter 1585 
 

The original 1585 charter to the “Free Grammar School of Queen Elizabeth” is missing from the 
school’s archives, and historical evidence indicates that the charter was sent to the Archbishop 
of York in 1731, following the death of a governor. Locating the original charter for the school 
would be a valuable asset to the community and people connected to Halifax’s history as the 
school was a significant building in the early history of the area. Throughout looking for the 
charter, the routes which were taken to look for it were mainly archival, as they seemed to be 
the most likely sources for where a document of this nature would be. This section will break 
down what each source contained and an analysis on if it could possibly lead to any more clues 
to where the charter may be. 

The National Archives 

Starting on a wide scale, looking through the National Archives yielded few results pointing to 
the original charter, indicating that the charter must be lost both physically and digitally on a 
national scale. However, the entry which gleaned some information led to the “Bishopthorpe 
Papers” which were the archived documents kept at the Archbishop of York’s residence, 
Bishopthorpe Palace. From this source, it suggests that the document is either hidden in a small 
local archive or simply an unarchived physical document which has not been identified. 

West Yorkshire Archive Service: Calderdale 

This archive being much closer to the school yielded much more information, including a copy 
of the 1585 charter (see Appendix A). Being able to see the text of what was written in the 
charter is very helpful in identifying the original document, as it might not visually look like any 
of the copies. It could be a smaller, more unassuming document but with this text, it could be 
identified as the charter. Alongside this copy, in this archive there are many letters and 
correspondence between people concerning the school and sometimes mentioning the 
charter. If a future researcher were able to read these letters, there may be some information as 
to what happened to the charter from the perspectives of these writers. This archive may not 
house the original charter, but it has a wealth of information to glean clues from. 

Heath Old Boys Association 

The memories of the people connected to the school are very valuable in gaining an insight into 
the personal feelings and independent research that has gone into locating this charter. When 
looking at a piece of history, it is important to listen to the community which surrounds it and 
there is none more passionate than the HOBA. From their website, there is a wealth of 
information surrounding the school from their own memories and what has been gathered from 
archived documents. One interesting case is the seal for the land the school stands on being 
lost and then in the possession of Arthur Owen, who in 1966 sent a letter to the public records 
officer to confirm it being authentic. This instance may be worth considering in the case of the 
charter being found, as someone may have it in their possession and be unaware, so until it is 
identified it would be incredibly difficult to find without searching physically. 

York Minster Archives 

Following the logic that the Archbishop of York at the time of confirming the text in the original 
charter in order to issue the new one in 1731, it is possible that the charter may be in York. That 
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being said, the only evidence when looking through their archive of the school is what is thought 
to be an Elizabethan impression of a wax seal. The matrix is described as having an inscribed 
open book, a Tudor rose above and a portcullis below, with the inscription “sigil. libe. gram. 
schol. R. Eliz. vicariat halifax.” This gives the impression that they have a record of this seal from 
when the 1585 charter was first issued, or it was taken from the document itself. Since this is 
the only evidence in this archive, it seems to be an exhausted resource, although having an 
image of this matrix would be valuable. 

The Archbishop of York 

Although the Archbishop of York does not have archives, they are able to be contacted and the 
query which was posed to them was specifically about any physical evidence which they may 
house (see The Borthwick Institute). They answered that all of their historical records are held at 
the Borthwick Institute, excluding some more recent ones. So, it is uncertain whether the 
Archbishop may have the unidentified physical original charter, but it is certain that all of the 
records they did have are now at the Borthwick Institute. 

Schools in York 

This method of finding records in other schools contemporary to Heath Grammar School is a 
worthy avenue of research in theory, but in practice it yielded few results. The schools which 
were considered to perhaps house unusual historical records were Bootham School (est. 1823), 
The Mount School (est. 1785), Ripon Grammar School (est. 1555) and St Peter’s School (est. 
627). However, none of these schools mention contact with Heath Grammar School, and are as 
likely to house the charter as any older establishment connected to the Church and Archbishop 
of York. 

The Borthwick Institute 

Finally, out of all of the sources which were looked at, the Borthwick Institute seemed the most 
likely to have useful information from the start point, and this was confirmed by the findings. 
Through online research, the Bishopthorpe Papers (Bp. Sch. 19 specifically) were identified as 
being the main source for all of the documents relating to the correspondence between the 
school and the archbishop at the time. These findings were not digitised so they are only 
available to be looked at physically. Similar to the WYAS, the Borthwick contained many 
correspondences between people about the school and in a few of them, the charter was 
mentioned. One correspondence between “Geo: Logh” and the archbishop on the 12th May 
1744 (see Appendix D) particularly stands out as it mentions the transport of the new charter 
“not by the common hand” which may provide insight into how these documents were treated 
and transported. Many of the letters refer to the charter as evidence for how the governance of 
the school should be upkept with in the future, there are not many instances where the physical 
old charter is talked about. 

The piece of evidence which may be very useful in searching for the charter physically however, 
it what the statutes of the school says in chapter 6: “two chests, shall be provided a bigger and a 
less[…] In the great chest shall be kept the Charter of Foundation and Confirmation”. This may 
then suggest that the charter could still be in a chest somewhere, possibly in York.  

 

 



6 
 

Location of the Old school building 
 

In this chapter, the location of the original Elizabethan building will be discussed according to 
both historical and archaeological sources. The original school building was built by the 
Ackroyds of Hipperholme between 1597 and 1600 (when the school opened). Over time, this 
building is thought to have become the site for where the old headmaster’s house is today, 
which is now a veterinary practise. The new school building of 1879 was designed by Leeming 
and Leeming and this is situated next to the schoolmaster’s house. However, it is unclear what 
happened to this original building, as parts of it still exist in the area, but the building itself is 
seemingly gone.  

The parts of the original building 
The pieces which still exist of the 
original building include an 
apple and pear window (now in 
the drill shed of the new school), 
a plaque (now on the front of the 
old schoolmaster’s house) and 
the cellars of the old 
schoolmaster’s house. The 
apple and pear window is 
thought to be part of the one 
which can be seen in figure 2, 
perhaps with some pieces 
rebuilt and fixed during the 
move. The plaque is thought to 
have been on the inside of the 
school building and was moved 

to the outside of the old schoolmaster’s house. Then finally, the cellars of the old 
schoolmaster’s house are a bit more complex and have not been fully investigated.  

 

The cellars are particularly interesting as they seem to have windows which would only look into 
the ground. They are located underneath the entrance of the veterinary practise (under tarmac) 
which would make archaeologically investigation difficult. There are two cellars, both are made 
of huge slabs of stone, and both seem to have some identifiable architectural techniques such 
as a Georgian arch into one of them. A piece of evidence which would be highly valuable for 
these cellars is if there are any mason’s marks on the stone, which could lead to when these 
were built and potentially why. The most curious aspect to the cellars is the windows (see figure 
3), as the mullions are double-paned and seemingly lead to nowhere, although this has not 
been investigated archaeologically. 

One theory is that the cellars are actually the ground floor of the original school building, and 
those windows would have been above ground. This theory could possibly be supported by the 
earthworks in the area (see figure 5) and by examples of this happening to other buildings such 
as Sally Lunn’s bakery in Bath (1483), which was originally on street level and is now below 

Figure 2 shows a drawing of the original school building (Taylor et al 
2006). 
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ground. However, while this could be the case, it is unclear what the cellars were used for, as 
they are very small rooms, and one is arched suggesting a specific purpose rather than a 
learning space. The cellar windows also do not match up with figure 2 and the drawing suggests 
the ground to be extremely flat which makes it hard to believe an extreme change in the levels to 
the building has occurred. 

Another theory for the cellars is that they 
were actually contemporary to the Georgian 
building and the base for the 
schoolmaster’s house was where the 
original building actually was. The flagstone 
detailing around the perimeter of the 
building is very similar to figure 1 which 
could mean that the various additions to the 
schoolmaster’s house included some parts 
of the original building above ground. It is 
unclear from historical sources whether the 
original school building was knocked down 
entirely, or if that uncertainty could mean 
that the building standing today could 
include parts of the original building. At the 
time of Leeming and Leeming building the 
new school, it was mentioned that there 
were additions to the schoolmaster’s house 
done by Mr. R. F. Bryan, and that there was a 
need for excavators which could be in 
reference to the cellars. If this theory is 
accurate, then it is probable that the whole 
schoolmaster’s house is Georgian, and the 
cellars were purpose built for some kind of 
goods management- possibly meat or coal.  

The building itself looks to be very mismatched and it is evident that there have been many 
changes to it over time. The architecture is very stereotypically Georgian, with mismatched 
heights to doors, lots of triple-paned windows and blocked off doorways. One of the most 
interesting changes made is the blocked doorway on the back of the building, which seems to 
be in line with the flagstones on the perimeter. It is clear that the building has been through 
many different iterations and changes needed to happen in order to accommodate the changing 
usage of the building. 

Any future work on this building might include a full sweep of the cellars, and the outside of the 
building for mason’s marks. Possibly to clean the windows and look up through the chutes to 
glean what they might have been used for, if it is safe to do so. It would also be valuable to go 
through the materials stored in the loft which might have some more older texts pertaining to 
the school. 

Figure 3 shows a boarded-up window in the cellars of 
the old schoolmaster’s house (Author’s own 2024). 
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Archaeology and Earthworks survey of the back of the old 
schoolmaster’s building 

The purpose of this survey was to assess the interesting earthworks present in the grounds 
behind the school master’s house. The grounds are very undulating, so therefore main research 
question being posed was: are these undulations natural or man-made? Historical mapping of 
the area seems to suggest that the area went through many changes over the decades, 
particularly regarding pathways and extensions being added in the area.  

The survey method involved forming a tape measure baseline through the area, then taking 
readings from a transecting tape measure. These readings were transcribed onto tracing paper 
to a scale of 1:500, scanned and digitised into figure 5.  

In figure 5, the hachures show that the earthworks are particularly present near the house, and 
there are little to none near to the wall. This could maybe suggest that the wall was built in 
context with the landscape, or that the wall has not been changed for a considerable amount of 
time. The earthworks which are present around the utilities suggest that there may have been 
adjustments made to the landscape in order to create a flat surface for them. However, it is the 
earthworks closest to the building which are the most intriguing, as historical mapping (see 
figure 8) shows that there was a path which led down to the side of the house, and this could 
have created the slope we see in the earthworks leading to the window. Despite a path being 
there previously, that does not explain the two “steps” that the earthworks have leading down 
from the step at the top of figure 5. There are two clear breaks in slope which stop at the side of 
the building, so then looking again at figure 1, it is intriguing the way the artist’s rendition of the 
school building seems to have completely flat ground surrounding it. Figure 1 also shows a wall 
which visually seems similar to the wall today, as it is also on flat ground, and historical 
mapping shows that the boundary did not change much from the 1840s onwards.  

This earthworks survey is a preliminary work for the area, as it only covers a small section near 
the building. For future work surrounding this building, it would be valuable to perform some 

Figure 4 shows a satellite image of the Heath Grammar School site, the 
survey area is highlighted in red (Google maps 2024). 

Figure 5 shows an earthwork survey of the area behind 
the old schoolmaster’s building (author’s own). 
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geophysical surveys on is area as the earthworks suggest that a lot of change and remodelling 
has occurred over the centuries. Geophysical surveys may also uncover the plan of the building 
underneath the ground, and this may help to build a picture of the building we see today, which 
has gone through centuries of additions. Unfortunately, the cellars and around three quarters of 
the building is surrounded by tarmac, which would interfere with geophysical surveying. So 
therefore, to find out the utility of these cellars, a keyhole excavation may be the best method to 
determine where the seemingly useless windows would have led, as well as making a clearer 
outline for the subterranean parts of the building.  

 

Historical mapping of the school 
In this section, the mapping of the school over time will be analysed and compared over time to 
see the changes in the area, with a focus on the historically significant date of 1879, when the 
new school was built. The historical mapping which is being used is from the 1840s onwards, as 
the maps which came before simply mention Halifax, but are not detailed enough to have any 
depiction of the school. 

 

 

The new school was built in 1879 by Leeming and Leeming, and there are a few maps which 
show what the school buildings looked like after the original building had been altered but 
before this massive change to the site in 1879. In the 1850s map, it shows there were many 
additions to the site before the 1879 building, and it is unclear where the original building would 
fit in this edition. The main theory is that the original building would have been around where the 
old schoolmaster’s house is, which is indicated as point A on figure 6, but this looks vastly 
different to the drawing of the original building in figure 1.  

Figure 6 shows the Heath Grammar school on an 1850s map, point A is where the original school site might have 
been (Digimap, 2024). 

A 
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Between the 1850s and 1861 maps, there 
seems to have been some changes in the plan 
of the school, however the looped path next to 
point A has remained the same during this 
time. The road name is also still Skircoat Moor 
Lane, rather than Free School Lane as it is 
today. The two different styles of mapping is 
very useful in highlighting different elements of 
the site. The 1850s map highlights the 
landscape, pathways and utilities of the site, 
as it was an OS map with the purpose of being 
as thorough as possible in their mapmaking. 
The 1861 map was charted for the express 
purpose of highlighting the plan of the site for 
the future building plans. 

The buildings during this time, that made up 
the school are very interesting as this was the 
period just before the big change of the new 
building in 1879, and it is clear that the school 

had seen some incremental changes over time which resulted in the amalgamation of buildings 
that the 1850s and 1861 maps show. A route of research which would be valuable to go down 
would be searching for any documents which could shed some light on this era of the school, 
from 1598-1879.  

The change from before to after the 1879 building addition to the site is evident on the 1890s 
map in figure 8, as all of the buildings to the left of point A were demolished to make way for the 

Figure 7 shows the Heath Grammar School on an 
1861 map, point A is where the original school site 
might have been (Child 1861). 

A 

Figure 8 shows the Heath Grammar School on an 1890s map, point A is where the 
original school site might have been (Digimap 2024). 

A 
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“E” shaped 1879 building. Another notable change is the boundaries to the school site, the two 
smaller buildings to the left of the site were previously outside the boundary on the earlier 
maps, but now they are within it (assuming they are the same buildings). The road has also been 
renamed to “Free School Lane” and there are more paths which connect the school to the roads 
around it. On previous maps, the paths around the school were more connected to Heath Road 
(right of point A on figure 9), and this has changed to be able to access the 1879 building easily. 
The most notable change on the 1890s map is the clear distinction between the school building 
and the old school master’s house (point A) which is now a separate building, and now has a 
path leading from the back of the building to the school and into a much emptier area below the 
school. 

 

 

 

There are not many changes from 1890s to the 1900s maps, but the style choices of the 
mapmakers make certain aspects to the site much clearer. For example, the boundary lines to 
the school site are clear, and the brace “S” symbol shows the grouping of the multiple land 
parcels in the area. An important difference is the removal of the path from the school to the old 
schoolmaster’s house (below point A on figure 9), which shows there might have been changes 
in the structure of that building and the land around it, which suggests this might have been the 
time the back door was bricked up. The name of the school has also changed back to “Heath 
Grammar School” as it changed in the 1890s map to the “Free Grammar School”. The foliage 
around the old schoolmaster’s house has also largely stayed the same. 

Figure 9 shows the Heath Grammar School on a 1900s map, point A shows where the old school might have been 
(Digimap 2024). 

A 
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In the 1920s map, the foliage surrounding the old schoolmaster’s house has been removed, or 
not recorded, and there have been additions to the 1879 school building. Another notable 
change is the boundaries of the land parcels surrounding the school shifting. 

 

Figure 10 shows the Heath Grammar School on a 1920s map, point A shows where the original school might have 
been (Digimap 2024). 

A 

Figure 11 shows the Heath Grammar School on a 1930s map, point A shows where the original school might 
have been (Digimap 2024). 

A 
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The changes from the 1900s to the 1930s maps are minimal, but there are more small additions 
on the old schoolmaster’s house, which are quite perplexing, as their utility based only on these 
maps is very unclear. There is also a recurring triangular shape which appears just above point A 
on figure 11, which could possibly be a flower bed outside.  

 

 

 

The final historic map made in the 1960s shows some extreme changes made to the school site, 
including many more building additions to the main school, as well as stairs and pathways 
around the site. The recurrence of the path to the back of the old schoolmaster’s house to the 
main school is also interesting, as it suggests that the blocked door might not have been bricked 
up until later if there is still a path to that entrance. This path seemingly leads to a gap in the 
boundary wall behind the old schoolmaster’s house, which implies a need to move around this 
area more freely than previous maps suggest. 

Historical mapping can only show approximately 100 years of the changes of the school’s 
appearance, and comparing the 1850s map to the 1960s map really highlights how much this 
school has evolved. In the case of the placement for the original school building, these maps 
are less valuable as it is difficult to say that the old school master’s building contains parts of it, 
or if it replaced the original building. The building itself appears to have some similar structural 
elements and aesthetic similarities as figure 1, but this is most likely emulating what was there 
before. As the old schoolmaster’s house is the building which changes shape the least 
throughout these maps, this suggests that they decided that it was a building worth keeping 
around, perhaps due to conservation reasons as a remnant of the old school. 

 

Figure 12 shows the Heath Grammar School on a 1960s map, point A shows where the original school might have 
been (Digimap 2024). 

A 
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Conclusions 
 

Throughout this research, many avenues were investigated in order to unravel the mysteries 
surrounding the Heath Grammar School. Although the conclusive evidence to answer these 
questions is lacking, this report has covered many avenues of research which would benefit 
from further analysis. 

Regarding the lost charter, the most likely location is somewhere either in York or Halifax within 
a chest that was given to the school originally. As the original charter is likely not in a digital 
archive, the route for future research would most likely involve physical searching in places like 
the loft of the old schoolmaster’s house. 

The recommendation for future research on the original location of the old school building 
would be archaeological investigation, as there appears to be material under the ground which 
is seemingly connected to earlier iterations of the school at the very least. Using maps to 
confirm changes in the later versions of the school is useful, but for the Elizabethan school, it is 
the physical remains which shed light on the use of the area over time. 
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